01A5-9-90 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA WILLIAM LEGGETT, Petitioner, CLER CASE NO. v. 74 puty Clerk STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BARBARA M LINTHICUM PUBLIC DI ENDER SECOND JU ICIAL CIRCUIT

CAI S. MCGINNES A! ISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER '' N COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 S. MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER FLA. BAR #230502

#

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

William Leggett was the defendant in the trial court and appellant before the District Court of Appeal, First District. He will be referred to in this brief as "petitioner", "defendant", by by his proper name.

Reference to Volume I of the record on appeal, containing the pleadings and orders filed in this cause, will be by use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. Reference to Volumes II-IX of the record, containing transcripts, will be by use of the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

-1-

#### 11. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information it was alleged that petitioner, between September 23 and 30, 1986, did knowingly commit a battery upon Common a child under the age of 18 years, by actually and intentionally touching or striking (Common, with a deadly weapon, a billy club, contrary to Section 827.03, Florida Statutes (1985)(R-45). The alleged victim is the nephew of petitioner.

On January 11, 1988, the state filed a motion to allow videotaping of testimony of victim pursuant to Section 92.53, Florida Statutes (1985)(R-84). On that same date a hearing on the motion was held during the course of which defense counsel objected to the proposal, stating: "And we object to the video-taping. If the child would be in the presence of the uncle, he would tell something different than he would if he was not there. The child is easily influenced," (T-47). The objection was overruled and the motion was granted (T-48).

On January 19, 1988, defense counsel filed a motion to bar the use of the video tape of a witness arguing, among other things, that neither the trial judge nor a special master was present at the taping as required by statute, and that "..., it deprives defendant of his right of confrontation...." (R-95). The motion was denied (R-96,T-63). However, after the jury was selected but prior to the commencement of trial, the trial court offered to allow a second videotape to be made in his presence, and the defense accepted this offer (T-116-117).

On January 20, 1988, a hearing on the question of videotaping the alleged victim's testimony was conducted.

-2-

Martha Nan Jobson, a clinical social worker and therapist, testified that she has been involved in weekly therapy sessions with Junior Deginning in October, 1986, until the time of trial. She testified that 🗰 ",, , is terrified of facing his uncle." Jobson explained, "When a child is alleging that they have been abused and they are a child victim, the most terrifying thing and the most traumatic thing they ever have to do is face their offender face to face." (**T-138**). Jobson expressed the opinion, based upon Opports performance in school, his behavior, and his home placement, that it would be harmful mentally or emotionally if he had to testify in the presence of petitioner in open court (T-139). After trial defense counsel questioned Ms. Jobson, the trial court ruled the state would be allowed the videotape of testimony, using the following language:

THE COURT: All right. I'm satisfied from the testimony that it would be in the best interest of everyone and wouldn't diminish your client's rights in anyway if the child's testimony is videotaped with your client being present. Me'll do that today, I believe at 11 o'clock.

# (T-145).

Counsel next objected on the basis that appellant, having to sit in **a** wheelchair atop a table, was placed in a hallway and could not distinctly see or hear the **witness'** testimony (T-144-147).

During the ensuing trial by jury, the state presented the video taped testimony of Jurgen Office Before this was done, defense counsel renewed the previously made objections.

-3-

Petitioner, personally, informed the court that he would like another lawyer since defense counsel, Carl Swanson, was not, in petitioner's opinion, rendering competent representation. The trial court refused to appoint another lawyer in the midst of the trial. Defense counsel next moved that the state produce June Of the jury so that they could look at him, and counsel agreed that he would not have to testify, just appear. The request was denied. After the tape was played, counsel additionally objected on the basis that the tape did not adequately show Omen's face, and as such a viewer could not discern the subtle expressions on his face that would indicate he was not telling the truth. Moreover, counsel stated: "As I understand our constitution under the state and federal guides that a defendant is entitled to be confronted with his witnesses before a jury. This is a new statute, never been run to the Supreme Court, but it is depriving this defendant of his constitutional right and we object to it for those grounds." (T-323-324). Counsel next moved for a judgment of acquittal, which was denied. During the course of denying the confrontation objections that had been lodged with respect to the tape, the trial court noted that a "two way mirror" was used in connection with the video taping (T-322-327).

The facts at trial during the state's case indicated that petitioner, on September 31, 1986, brought his nephew, J office to a hospital emergency room. Office has a laceration on his head as well as bruises on various portions of his body. The hospital staff suspected abuse. Office gave differing

- 4 -

explanations on how he sustained his injuries. He told a physician that he hit his head on a stairwell while chasing a cat, and he also said that he had cut his hair at school and petitioner struck him as punishment. He also told the physician that he had been getting three meals a day and had a roof over his head, and for the doctor not to spoil it for him (T-164-198). He unilaterally told a nurse that petitioner had not abused him (T-213-216). (The told a police officer that another boy had pushed him down some stairs, that petitioner did not abuse him, but that petitioner had told him to say that (T-217-226). Another doctor was told by Ome that another boy pushed him down some stairs. This physician felt some of the injuries could not have happen in the manner described by C (T-226-277). Jerico told Jobson that petitioner struck him with a billy club (T-278-290), and such a club was found in appellant's residence (T-292-306).

The petitioner presented several witnesses. Several of these have known petitioner, who is confined to a wheel chair, for years, and have never seem petitioner physically abuse JCCC They also related that CCC is an extremely active and hyper young man, who routinely injured himself because of hard play, which included large amounts of climbing and jumping. Defense witnesses also related incidents where

After argument of counsel and the trial court's instructions on the law, and after deliberation, the jury

-5-

returned a verdict finding petitioner guilty of aggravated child abuse as charged in the information (T-516-517). Petitioner was adjudged guilty and sentenced to 12 years in prison, with 354 days credit (R-107-112).

Notice of appeal was timely filed (R-121), petitioner was adjudged insolvent (R-115), and the Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit was designated to represent appellant.

On appeal to the District Court of Appeal, First District, petitioner attacked the trial court rulings that allowed the jury to hear the videotape of J arguing Jobson's testimony did not go to the relevant statutory criteria, and was therefore deficient, the trial court did not make the various factual findings required by the statute, and that petitioner's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation was violated. The district court rejected these arguments in Leqgett v. State, 548 So.2d 249 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989).

Petitioner thereafter timely filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of the Court, followed **by** a jurisdictional brief. By corrected order dated February 2, **1990,** the Court accepted jurisdiction and scheduled the filing of jurisdictional briefs. This brief on the merits follows.

-6-

# 111. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this case the trial court permitted the alleged child victim of abuse to testify before the jury on video tape. When the tape was made, a two-way mirror was used that precluded the child witness from hearing or seeing petitioner.

Petitioner contends this was error for several reasons. Initially, petitioner asserts that the state's expert never did opine that the alleged victim stood a substantial likelihood of suffering at least moderate emotional or mental harm if required to testify in the presence of the accused and the jury. Secondly, the trial court did not satisfy the statutory requirement that it make a specific findings of fact as to the basis for its ruling.

Third, petitioner asserts the use of the mirror violated his constitutional rights of confrontation. Petitioner fully recognizes that this particular argument has been decided against him in <u>Glendening v. State</u>, 536 So.2d 212 (Fla. 1988). Petitioner includes this third argument for two reasons, namely, to urge the Court to revisit <u>Glendening</u>, and to foreclose any later claim in the federal system, in the event petitioner fails to obtain relief here, that petitioner waived his constitutional claim by not asserting it in this Court during the instant proceedings.

-7-

#### IV. ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE STATE'S MOTION TO ALLOW VIDEOTAPING OF TESTIMONY OF THE VICTIM, THEREBY VIOLATING APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO FACE-TO-FACE CONFRONTATION WITH THE WITNESSES AGAINST HIM GUARANTEED BY ARTICLE I, SECTION 16, CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, AND AMENDMENTS VI AND XIV, CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES.

The record reflects that the state, pursuant to Section 92.53, Florida Statutes (1985) filed a Motion To Allow Videotaping Of Testimony Of Victim (R-84). This motion was granted over several objections, including arguments that the statutory requirements authorizing the procedure were not followed, and that the procedure violated petitioner's constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him in that the taping was done in such a manner as to preclude a face-to-face meeting between him and the alleged child victim (R-95-96, T-47-48, 63, 144-147). Petitioner contends the trial court erred in granting the motion in at least three respects. First, the state's expert did not opine that there was a substantial likelihood that the witness would suffer at least moderate emotional or mental harm if required to testify in the presence of petitioner and the jury. Second, the trial court did not follow the statute in that it did not make the requisite specific findings of fact. And third, since the witness could not see or hear appellant during the taping procedure, petitioner's Sixth Amendment right to confront his accusers face-to-face was violated. Petitioner will discuss these three points in the order indicated.

-8-

The relevant statutory provision is Section 92.53, Florida Statutes (1985). Subsection (1) provides: "On motion and hearing in camera and a finding that there is a substantial likelihood that a victim or witness under the age of sixteen would suffer at least moderate emotional or mental harm if he were required to testify in open court, ,,the trial court may order the videotaping of the testimony of the victim or witness,,, to be used at trial in lieu of trial testimony in open court."

In the instant case petitioner's therapist, Nan Jobson, testified that, based upon her therapy sessions with the alleged victim, **José Oss** and her expertise in the area of child abuse, that it would be harmful mentally or emotionally for him to testify in the presence of petitioner and the jury **(T-133-139).** At no time did Ms. Jobson ever opine that there was a <u>substantial likelihood</u> that **Convolut** suffer at least <u>moderate emotional or mental harm</u>. In other words, the witness in effect only related the opinion that she felt that the witness would suffer <u>some</u> amount of mental or emotional harm, but she did not give any testimony as to its likelihood or the level or extent of such. Petitioner also contends that the basis of Jobson's opinion was fatally flawed.

In <u>Coy v. Iowa</u>, 487 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 101 L.Ed.2d 857, 108 S.Ct. 2798 (1988), the high Court struck down as violative of the Sixth Amendment an Iowa statute that permitted the use of a screen placed between child witnesses and the defendant, whereby the witnesses did not hear or see the defendant. Part

-9-

of the reason for this result is the the Iowa statute contained a legislative presumption that young witnesses would be traumatized by seeing the accused. In Glendening, which will be discussed in greater detail later in this argument, this Court distinguished Coy in part by noting that our statute requires individualized findings of trauma.

In the instant case, Ms. Jobson, after stating that J is terrified of petitioner, immediately added: "When a child is alleging that they have been abused and they are a child victim, the most terrifying thing and the most traumatic thing they ever have to do is face their offender face to face." (T-137). Clearly, at this point the witness was speaking of child victims <u>generally</u>, not this one in particular. Jobson also related that her opinion was **also** influenced by her observations of **O** and other factors, such as his performance in school (T-138).

Thus, not only does this case involve expert testimony that does not meet the statutory criteria, the opinion expressed by the expert here was based in part on one of the features of Coy that prompted the decision reached in that case, namely, a general assumption on the part of the expert that persons in the position of the child here would be traumatized.

Not only did the state fail to adduce opinion evidence that satisfied the statutory criteria, the trial court failed to make any findings of fact that the criteria had been met. As noted, subsection (1) contemplates a "....finding that there

-10-

is a substantial likelihood that a victim or witness...would suffer at least moderate emotional or mental harm if he were required to testify in open court...." The requirement that the trial court make such a finding is further buttressed by subsection (7), which states: "The court <u>shall</u> make <u>specific</u> <u>findings of fact</u>, on the record, as to the basis for its ruling under this section."

In the instant case, when granting the state's motion, the trial court simply stated that the court was "...satisfied from the testimony that it would be in the best interest of everyone...if this child's testimony is videotaped with your client being present." (T-145). Apart from the obvious response that it was not in the best interest of <u>petitioner</u> that the alleged victim's testimony be taped, this could hardly be construed as satisfying the requirement that a specific finding be made. The trial court did not utter the words or phrases "I find," "substantial likelihood," or "moderate emotional or mental harm."

From use of the language, "satisfied from the testimony," for all we know the trial court placed undue reliance upon that portion of the expert's testimony that relied upon generalized notions of trauma of child witnesses, contrary to the teachings of <u>Coy</u>. Such vague language thwarts, rather than promotes, intelligent review. It appears that one of the very reasons why the legislature enacted statutory standards and required specific factual findings is to facilitate intelligent review by the appellate courts.

-11-

In <u>Griffin v. State</u>, 526 So.2d 752 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), the Court was dealing with Section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes (1985), which recognizes a hearsay exception for statements made by a child victim of sexual abuse. This provision is similar to Section 92.53, Florida Statutes (1985), in that both require that a hearing be held on the question of admissibility of the evidence, and both specifically require the trial court to make a specific finding on the record as to the basis of its ruling.

Section 90.803(23)(a)(1) requires that hearing be held to determine if the proposed hearsay statement was made under circumstances showing sufficient safeguards of reliability. In <u>Griffin</u>, the trial court did not make the required findings of fact, and this failure was one of the reasons why the conviction appealed from in that case was reversed. <u>See also</u> <u>Distefano v. State</u>, 526 So.2d 110 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); <u>State v.</u> <u>Allen</u>, 519 So.2d 1076 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); and, <u>Salter v.</u> <u>State</u>, 500 So.2d 184 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

Petitioner relies upon <u>Jaggers v. State</u>, 536 So.2d 321 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). Mr. Jaggers went to trial on two counts of sexual battery involving his daughter and stepdaughter, and one count of sexual battery involving his niece. There, as here, the testimony of the children were videotaped and a one-way mirror was used. In <u>Jaggers</u>, a guardian ad litem for the children testified "to the effect that it would be in the children's 'best interests' to testify by means of video tape outside the presence of Jaggers." [Petitioner hopes the

-12-

parallels between the language used by the guardian at litem in <u>Jaggers</u> and that used by the trial court here in making its "finding" is not lost on the reader].

After the guardian's testimony, "the trial court entered a ruling that there was a substantial likelihood that these children would suffer at least moderate emotional trauma or mental harm if they were required to testify in open court." 536 So.2d at 324.

On appeal, the Court held that use of the one-way mirror violated **Coy**. It is significant to note that <u>Jaggers</u> was decided <u>after Glendening</u>. In <u>Jaggers</u>, the court stated:

The policy behind section 92.53 is for the purpose of shielding child witnesses from the trauma of courtroom testimony is cases where substantial likelihood of trauma has been specifically found by the court after a proper hearing. It is this requirement of individualized findings under section 92.53, which the Florida Supreme Court in Glendening II found distinguished this statute from the generalized statute assailed in Coy. In so holding, the <u>Glendening II</u> court recognized that the policy of protecting child victims of sexual abuse from probable trauma in a given case qualified as such an important public policy of the type acknowledged in Coy.

Although there is no constitutional infirmity with the procedure outlined under section 92.53, those procedures were not properly followed in this case. A review of the record reflects that the trial court did not make the required findings of fact under section 92,53(7) necessary to support its determination that the two child witnesses whose testimonies were video taped, would suffer at least moderate emotional or mental harm if they were required to testify in open court. Such a case-specific finding mandated by section 92.53 is precisely what renders that statute constitutional, because the statute is closely tailored to protect the child victim only in those particular circumstances were [sic] it is deemed necessary.

As stated previously, the trial court did not set forth the specific basis for finding that the daughter or stepdaughter would suffer moderate emotional trauma by testifying at the trial against Jaggers. All the court stated was that its decision was based on the testimony of the guardian ad litem for the children.

536 So,2d at 329.

As noted earlier, in the instant case the trial court not only failed to make any sort of finding as contemplated by subsection (1), the trial court did not support that "finding" by making, on the record, reference to the basis of its ruling pursuant to subsection (7). Like <u>Jaggers</u>, the trial court in this case merely referred to the testimony given at the hearing. Also as noted, the expert's opinion itself did not satisfy the statutory criteria, and the opinion was partially based on generalized notions of trauma.

Petitioner draws the attention of the Court to the following portion of <u>Jaggers</u>, which is applicable to the instant case:

Child abuse is a horror that must be eliminated from our society with as little further damage to the child victims as While we are vitally concerned about possible. the abuse of children and the need to protect those tender lives from the further trauma of the courtroom, we must also be concerned with the duty of the courts to assure that a person accused of such a crime be assured of a fair and impartial trial. When there is a substantial issue, as in this case, not as to the identity of the perpetrator of the crime, but whether or not the charged crime in fact occurred, we must look with microscopic vision at not only the substance of the evidence presented but at the manner in which the evidence may be prejudicially directed toward guilt or innocence by the manner in which it is allowed to be presented or the extent to which it may be upheld. Under the circumstances of this case, we are convinced that in balancing the due process rights of appellant and the possible harm, if any, to the victims by requiring by requiring their confrontation with appellant, or strict compliance with Coy and section 92.53, the rights of appellant must prevail.

536 So,2d at 330.

The facts of this case should be compared and contrasted with those before the Court in <u>Glendening</u>. The Court's opinion in this case describes the nature of the evidence presented, and the specificity of the trial court's ruling:

In the present case, the trial court conducted a hearing on the issue of whether the child victim would suffer at least moderate emotional or mental harm if required to testify in open court. The child's mother and the child's guardian ad litem testified that the child had expressed a fear of seeing her father and described behavior of the child on various occasions to support their conclusions. In addition, Dr. Meyer, a pediatrician who had attempted to examine the child, and Ms. Shapiro, a social worker who works with sexually abused children, testified that based upon their experience with this particular child testifying in open court would be a terrifying experience, particularly if she were to be cross-examined with her father in the room. Both Dr. Meyer and Ms. Shapiro felt that examining the child by way of videotaping where she was not able to see her father would minimize her emotional trauma. Based upon this testimony, the trial judge concluded that there was a substantial likelihood that the victim would suffer at least moderate emotional or mental harm if required to testify in open court in the presence of the defendant.

536 So,2d at 218.

Thus, in <u>Glendening</u>, the testimony at the hearing included specified behaviors on the part of the child. Here, no such

behaviors were detailed, only the conclusory statement that was terrified of petitioner. In <u>Glendening</u>, none of the testimony was based upon notions of generalized trauma, as the opinion reveals the experts opinion was based upon their contact with the particular child. Here, as has been noted, a portion of the expert's testimony dealt with child victims generally. In <u>Glendening</u>, the trial court's finding met the precise statutory criteria. Here, it did not and, in fact, only mentioned that it would be in the "**best** interests" of everyone if the videotaping was done.

The district court affirmed petitioner's conviction with reference to <u>Glendening</u>. <u>Leqgett v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. As has been shown, this case actually conflicts with <u>Glendening</u>.

Petitioner accordingly argues that the above-discussed errors of failing to adduce testimony that satisfied the statutory criteria, that the expert based her opinion partly upon generalized notions of trauma, and of the trial court failing to make specific findings of fact on the record with regard to the criteria, is reason enough to reverse the conviction appealed from. But even if the Court disagrees, petitioner additionally asserts that the manner in which the taping procedure was done operated to violate petitioner's Sixth Amendment right to confront his accusers.

To be more precise, in this case the taping was done pursuant to Section 92.53(4), Florida Statutes (1985), which provides: "The court may require the defendant **to** view the testimony from outside the presence of the child by means of a

-16-

3

two-way mirror or other similar method that will ensure that the defendant can observe and hear the testimony of the child in person, but that the child cannot hear or see the defendant.'' In this case, such a procedure was employed (T-327).

Petitioner is cognizant that the Court in Glendening rejected the constitutional argument made here. Petitioner raises the constitutional argument here for two reasons. First, while Glendening is correct in observing that our statutes require and the facts of that case reveal the existence of an individualized finding of trauma, which distinguishes Coy, petitioner requests to the Court to revisit the constitutional issue in light of the experience of the petitioner here. In petitioner's case, Glendening has seemingly be read to mean that it is always okay to videotape and it is always okay to use mirrors. As noted Glendening was cited as authority to affirm petitioner's conviction, although the facts here are radically different from those of In other words, while Glendening itself appears to Glendening. be good law, its existence has led to poor application of the law, exemplified by the instant case.

Second, in the event petitioner does not prevail in this Court and he wishes to press his constitutional claim in the federal system, he includes the constitutional argument to forestall any argument to the effect that petitioner waived the constitutional claim by not presenting it here.

-17-

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