o/a 5-9-90

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED  
SID J. WHITE

MAR 8 1990

CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By \_\_\_\_\_  
Deputy Clerk

WILLIAM LEGGETT,  
Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 74,856

STATE OF FLORIDA,  
Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS  
BUREAU CHIEF  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
FLA. BAR #325791

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS  
THE CAPITOL  
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050  
904/488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner Leggett will be referred to as petitioner or by his proper name. Respondent state will be referred to as respondent or the state. References to volume I of the record on appeal, containing the pleadings and orders, will be by "R" followed by the page number. References to transcripts, volumes II-IX, will be by "T" and page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The only issue raised by petitioner is whether the trial court erred in permitting video tape testimony of the seven-year old victim pursuant to section 95.23, Florida Statutes (1985). Facts relevant to that single issue will be addressed in the argument section of this brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The evidence shows a substantial likelihood that the child victim would have suffered at least moderate emotional or mental harm if required to testify in the presence of the accused. The trial and district court of appeal did not err. This Court should not revisit Glendening and should deny review as improvidently granted.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING  
THE STATE'S MOTION TO ALLOW VIDEOTAPING  
OF TESTIMONY OF THE VICTIM.

Petitioner argues that the state's expert witness did not opine, and the trial court did not find, that there was a substantial likelihood that the victim would suffer at least moderate emotional or mental harm if required to testify in open court in the presence of the accused. This argument is contrary to the record on appeal.

In Glendening v. State, 536 So.2d 212 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 109 S.Ct. 3219 (1989) this Court upheld section 92.53, Florida Statutes (1985) against a constitutional challenge grounded on Coy v. Jones, 487 U.S. 1012, 101 L.Ed.2d 857, 108 S.Ct. 2798 (1988) because, unlike the statute in Coy, "section 92.53 requires an individual determination for each child witness that the use of videotaped testimony is necessary to prevent the child from suffering emotional or mental harm." Glendening, 536 So.2d at 218. The relevant portions of the record on appeal support the district court of appeal and trial court decisions that the state made the requisite showing of Glendening and section 92.53.

The child victim in this case had been receiving therapeutic counseling from Nan Jobson from October 1986 until the date of the hearing, 20 January 1988. Jobson testified that

she saw the victim approximately once a week. (T 137) In its motion to permit presentation of video testimony the state accurately stated the basis for the video taping:

Ms. Jobson communicated to this Assistant State Attorney on January 8, 1988, that J [REDACTED] is still very fearful of his uncle (the Defendant) and that to have him confront his uncle under any circumstances would cause him (J [REDACTED]) to suffer extreme emotional or mental harm.

(R 84) After videotaping was accomplished, the defendant objected on various grounds, moved to bar the video and/or to re-perform the video taping with the judge presiding. (R 95; T 56-63) After initially denying defendant's motion, the trial judge agreed to conduct a hearing to determine if the videotaping was necessary and, if so, to redo the video taping. (T 116-121)

The sole witness at the hearing was the **child's** therapeutic counselor, Nan Jobson, a licensed clinical social worker and therapist who had been treating the child for approximately sixteen months. (T 133-137) After establishing the **witness'** qualifications, the state asked, "Can you tell us your opinion concerning J [REDACTED]'s ability to confront, that is to see his uncle [defendant] face to face at this point in his therapy?" (T 138) After the court overruled an irrelevant objection from defendant's counsel, Jobson answered:

A: At this point in time having seen the child approximately weekly, he is terrified of facing his uncle. When a child is alleging that they have been abused and they are a child victim, the

most terrifying thing and the most traumatic thing they ever have to do is face their offender face to face. Eventually I would hope that would be possible, but at this point in time it would be damaging to him emotionally to have to do that and I think it would make a behavior change, it would put back his school work, academically, mentally. It just would not be good at this point.

BY MS. HARRISON:

Q: Okay. And basically if you can tell us, on what do you base those conclusions that it would be harmful for him to confront his uncle at this time?

A: Basically on what the child tells me as well as his performance in school, his behavior, emotionally and his home placement.

Q: Okay. Do you have an opportunity to monitor his academic work and his behavioral progress?

A: Well, I'm in touch with the people that he lives with, the boys home. I'm in touch with the school that he attends.

Q: Okay. If he, for instance, in this past year and a half that you've counselled him, if he acts out in any particular way or has a behavior problem as you call it or regresses academically, are you made aware of those facts?

A: Yes, most of the time I attempt to stay in touch on a regular basis.

Q: Okay. Is it your opinion then that to have him come into open court and testify in the presence of his uncle would be harmful to him mentally or emotionally?

A: Yes, it is my opinion.

(T138-39)

Defendant's counsel then cross examined the counselor on irrelevant matters, e.g., had the therapeutic counselor appointed or obtained a lawyer for the child victim. The trial judge attempted to bring the defendant's counsel back to the matter at hand and the issue here:

THE COURT: Let me do this, Mr. Swanson. I think we're getting a little far afield of this hearing. If you wish to call the lady as a witness during the trial, but it's now I'm just concerned about the emotional aspects of testifying in court in the presence of your client on this child and so if you'll kind of focus your questions on that.

(T 144, emphasis supplied) Defendant's counsel then irrelevantly questioned the therapeutic counselor, whose credentials had already been established, whether she was a medical doctor with a license to practice medicine. At this point, the trial judge determined that neither side had any further questions and ruled as follows:

THE COURT: All right, I'm satisfied from the testimony that it would be in the best interest of everyone and wouldn't diminish your client's rights in anyway if this child's testimony is videotaped with your client being present. We'll do that today, I believe at 11 o'clock.

(T 145)

The following exchange then took place:

THE COURT: How about if we meet over there at 11 o'clock if your client will be there at 11?

MR. SWANSON: I have some objections from the statute that I want to put in the record.

THE COURT: Please do that now.

MR. SWANSON: I want to do that now.

THE COURT: Please go ahead.

MR. SWANSON: Okay. Under Florida Statutes 92.53, now in force and effect, the statute reads: In child abuse case where the civil or criminal nature in which videotaped testimony is to be utilized in lieu of trial testimony in open court, motion must be filed by, then it lists, the victim or the witnesses, the victim's witness or the witness' State Attorney, the parent, the legal guardian or guardian ad litem; B, for the trial judge on his own motion or any party in a civil proceeding and the Judge shall preside upon a special mass to preside at videotaping unless the following conditions are met.

THE COURT: Well, I'm going to be there myself.

MR. SWANSON: What?

THE COURT: I'm going to go. I'm going to preside so we can skip that.

MR. SWANSON: Now, the Court may require the defendant to view the testimony from outside the presence of the child by means of a two-way mirror or other similar method to ensure the defendant can observe and hear the testimony of the child in person, but the child cannot see or hear the defendant. The defendant and attorney for the defendant may communicate by appropriate private method. We object to the facilities that they had over there last time. It says in this statute that the defendant should be able to hear the child. Over 50 percent of the time that device they

had in the hall would not repeat or relate or expound the testimony of the child so you could hear or understand it.

THE COURT: We'll take -- I'll address that when I'm there. That's why I'm going to be there presiding?

MR. SWANSON: And on top of that, the provisions for the man to sit in this wheelchair who is crippled, they had to put in a table and that's an improper position. He was afraid he would fall off and he'd have to be real careful to hardly move and look at the child and the distance to see the child was so far that he couldn't even observe and my client --

THE COURT: Mr. Swanson, look, let's put these -- after we do this again, I'm doing this again for you, so after we do the second time, then you can state your objections.

MR. SWANSON: I'm calling your attention to some factors that existed that I don't want to happen again.

THE COURT: I'm going to do the best I can to accommodate you and then after that you say here's why I object and you'll tell me what you find to be offensive about it, but right now we're just anticipating things, but I'm definitely going to be there to accommodate you.

MR. SWANSON: We'll be happy to show you then Judge.

THE COURT: All right. We'll meet over there.

MR. SWANSON: I wanted to alert you ahead of time so you'll know what to look for.

THE COURT: We'll talk about it after we get over there and how about if we meet at 11 o'clock and we'll try to arrange it as best we can so everyone's rights are protected.

MR. SWANSON: And for the record we object to this lady's testimony. She's not qualified to testify as to the mental condition of the child.

THE COURT: Thank you very much.

All right. So, we'll meet over there at 11. Okay.

(T 145-148)

Based on the above record quotations, there can be no doubt that the state showed through the uncontradicted testimony of counselor Jobson that the specific child victim was terrified of the defendant and that the child victim would suffer "at least moderate emotional or mental harm", section 92.53(1), if required to testify in open court in the presence of the accused. It is self-evident that the trial judge and the state, if not always defendant's counsel, understood very well the purpose of the hearing and that the judge's ruling was the individual determination required by the statute and Glendening.

Although the state maintains that the record refutes petitioner's claims on the merits, it should be noted that at no point during or after the hearing did the defendant object to the videotaping on the basis of either (1) there had been no individualized showing that the victim would suffer moderate or emotional harm or (2) that the trial court had not made the specific findings, i.e., "magic words," required by the statute. This failure to properly preserve the issue by bringing the specific objection to the attention of the trial court for

correction is particularly relevant where, as here, there can be no contextual doubt as to what has transpired and the objection could have been so easily cleared up. It should be noted that the hearing here preceded Glendening and the trial court did not have the benefit of that opinion. In view of the trial court's clear and correct understanding of the purpose of the hearing, any claimed defects in the wording of his ruling are harmless and irrelevant.

Petitioner also argues that this Court should revisit and recede from Glendening and hold the statute unconstitutional. The state does not believe it to be useful to replough this so recently ploughed ground.